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1.0 Introduction
C.R Archaeology were instructed by Ms Jan Tyley to conduct archaeological recording works at 10
& 11 Lower Gate Street, Conwy (figure 1).

The houses are built against one of the towers on the outside of the Medieval Town Walls of Conwy
(SAM CNO014), which were built following the conquest of Wales by Edward 1. The building of the
town wall was begun in 1283 and the town walls incorporate Conwy Castle. They were built to protect
the new town borough and are constructed from Silurian grit and Ordovician rhyolite. They measure
approximately 1.3km in length and enclose an area approximately 22 acres. As built, they vary in
height because of the sloping ground but are at least 6m high on the outer face. With three twin-
towered gates and twenty-one D-shaped towers at regular intervals, originally with a ditch around the
outside, the town walls of Conwy share many constructional and architectural details with the castle.

The Town Walls and area of the town of Conwy within the original circuit of the Town Wall is
considered to form part of the essential setting of the World Heritage Site (Ref 374) and the historic
town core is a Conservation Area.

Numbers 10 & 11 Lower Gate Street are both Grade Il Listed Buildings (€adw ID: 3317). The
Smallest House (Number 10) is described as “well-preserved small.C19_cottage, an exceptional
survival of special social-historical interest as the humblest of a former long row of quayside
dwellings, and of additional interest as one of the town's oldest tourist attractions. It is part of a well-
preserved group, with Nos 11 and 12, of C18 - C19th quayside dwellings”. The building is currently
in use as a museum and is a tourist attraction.

Number 11 (Cadw ID: 87359) is recorded as “An early C19 cottage with characteristic later C19
facade detail” and was Listed as “a C19 cottage retaining original character, and as part of a group
with Nos 10 and 12 of well-preserved quayside dwellings”.

In January 2016 a “Faults Survey” of Nos 10.and 11 Lower Gate Street was undertaken by Hampson
Lewis Charted Building Surveyors (included in appendix a). This report details repairs to be
undertaken at the two properties and having examined the document it was determined by Cadw's
Inspector of Ancient Monumentstand*Archaeology that “The works to number 10 may expose a
previously unrecorded section,ofithe Town Wall Tower and as such suitable recording methodology
must be in place and an archaeelogist appointed to ensure an appropriate record of any areas of
exposed masonry”.

A specification for.works was prepared and approved by lan Halfpenney of Cadw and is included as
appendix a. It“outlines the methodology to be employed in the recording of features of
archaeological/historical interest uncovered following the removal of the existing plasterwork or
other materials-which expose the Town Wall Tower.

The works undertaken were a Level 2/3 Building Recording of the of the building interior following
the removal of the existing plasterwork. Detailed historic research into the site was not undertaken
and it was considered that the SAM entry for the Conwy Town Walls and the Listed Building
description for the house are sufficient to provide the context needed for the project.
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Figure 1. Site Location Map - Source: OS Open Data
(Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2016)




2.0 Project Aims & Objectives

The aim of this programme of works was to create a Level 2/3 Building Record of Number 10 Lower
Gate Street, Conwy with particular emphasis on the recording of any areas of the Town Wall Tower
exposed following the removal of the existing plasterwork. This was expanded to cover Number 11
Lower Gate Street as a small area of stonework was exposed at the attic level.

It aimed to fulfil the mitigation criteria for undertaking an Archaeological Building Recording as
specified in the CIfA Standard and Guidance documents (2014).

The objectives of the archaeological programme were to provide an archive record of the building; to
increase understanding of the site’s history, development and significance and to make available
information about the archaeological resource existing on the site.

3.0 Scheme of Works - Methodology

3.1 Scheme of Works — Methodology for Building Recording

The methodology employed conformed to the requirements for a Level 2/3 Building Record as
specified in Understanding Historic Buildings: A Guide to Good Recording Practice (Historic
England 2016) and The Chartered Institute for Archaeologists: Standard and Guidance for the
Archaeological Investigation and Recording of Standing Buildings.or(Structures (2014).

The following points are detailed in Understanding Historic/Buildings: A Guide to Good Recording
Practice (Historic England 2016).

The record created for the site consisted of:
Written Account Points 1-3, 5-8, 11
Drawings Points 2,5 & 6
Photography Points 1-2, 4-5, 7-8:

3.1.1 Desk Based Research
A detailed history of the site was‘not deemed to be a necessary component of this programme of
works. Limited research was hoewever conducted to aid further interpretation/discussion.

The works were conducted in, accordance with the CIfA Standards and Guidance for the
Archaeological Investigation and Recording of Standing Buildings or Structures (2014) and will
include the information required to fulfil points 1-3, 5-8 and 11 as specified in Understanding Historic
Buildings: A Guideto Good Recording Practice (Historic England 2016).

3.1.2 Drawn Survey

Architects plans of the site were not produced due to the nature of the works. Measured drawings
were produced to fulfil points 2 & 5-6 as specified in “Understanding Historic Buildings: A Guide
to Good Recording Practice” (Historic England 2016). No additional drawn records to illustrate
undiscovered features were necessary.

3.1.3 Photographic Survey
A photographic survey of the building was undertaken. This included:

1) A photographic survey of the building exterior including general shots of the site environs
2) A photographic survey of the interior of the building with particular emphasis on the area of
the town wall tower exposed by the works



The methodology employed conformed to the requirements of photographic recording to the
equivalent of a Level 3 Survey, as specified in Understanding Historic Buildings: A Guide to Good
Recording Practice (Historic England 2016) and includes works specified in points 1-2, 4-5 & 7-8.

3.1.3.1 Equipment

The photographic survey was undertaken using 20.1 mega-pixel Sony Alpha 58 and 13.1 mega-pixel
Sony Alpha 350 digital cameras with a variety of standard and other lenses using a tripod where
necessary. Images were captured in RAW format for later processing into high resolution JPG and
TIFF files.

Where possible all exterior and interior elevations of the building were photographed with scales
from ground level. Additional photographs were taken detailing important architectural features and
the general setting of the site.

3.2 Archive Compilation

All records created during the fieldwork were checked for consistency and accuracy and will form
part of the Primary Site Archive (P1) (EH 2006). The archive contains all data collected. It is ordered,
indexed, adequately documented, internally consistent, secure, quantifiedyand.conforms to standards
required by the archive repository and signposted appropriately to ensure future use in research, as
detailed in the English Heritage Management of Research Projects/in.the Historic Environment
(MoRPHE) methodology.

The archive was assembled in accordance with the guidelinespublished in, Standards in the museum
care of archaeological collections (Museums & GalleriessCommission 1994), Guidelines for the
preparation of excavation archives for long-term storage/{United Kingdom Institute for Conservation,
1990) and Archaeological Archives: A guide torbest practice in creation, compilation, transfer and
curation (AAF 2007).

Copies of the digital archive will be deposited at the RCAHMW and at Conwy Archives, Llandudno.

3.3. Timetable for Proposed Works

An initial record was made on October 29" 2016 prior to the commencement of works. Follow up
visits were made on the 9" and 25" November 2016 to record the buildings during the works. Cadw
were informed of the exact site days to allow monitoring of works.

3.3.1 Staffing
The project was managed by Catherine Rees (MCIfA, BA, MA, PgDip HEC, MCIfA). Site works
were conducted«by Catherine Rees and Matthew Jones (BA, MA).

All projects are.carried out in accordance with CIfA Standard and Guidance documents.

3.3.2 Monitoring

The project was subject to monitoring by Cadw. The monitor was given prior notice of the
commencement of the fieldwork. Cadw were notified in writing of the commencement dates for
archaeological site work.



3.3.3 Health and Safety
Arrisk assessment was conducted prior to the commencement of works and site staff were familiarised
with its contents. A first aid kit was located in the site vehicle.

All staff were issued with appropriate Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) for the site work. This
consisted of:

» Safety Helmets (EN397)
* Hi-visibility vests (EN471)
« Safety footwear — steel toecap and mid-sole boots and Wellingtons (EN345-47)

All staff have passed at least a CITB health and safety test at least operative level and will carry a
Construction Related Organisation (CRO) White Card for Archaeological Technician (Cede5363) or
a Site Visitor card.

C.R Archaeology staff also complied with all Health and Safety Policy_and“specific on-site
instructions provided by the client and their appointed Principal contractor or H&S coordinator.

3.4 The Report
This report clearly and accurately incorporates information gained“from the programme of
archaeological works. The report contains a site plan showing the loeations of photographs taken.

The report includes:

» acopy of the design brief and agreed specification

* alocation plan based on current OS mapping at an appropriate scale

« full dimensional and descriptive detail of significant features identified
» afull bibliography of sources consulted

* an archive compact disc

The report details the results of the'Level 2/3 Building Recording and combines the results of the
photographs/drawings taken/made fellowing the stripping out of the plasterwork, the drawn record
and the results of the limited-archival research undertaken.

Copies of the reports in"Adobe“PDF format will be sent to the appropriate monitoring archaeologist
for approval before<formal submission. A bound paper copy and PDF digital copy of the report will
be submitted as part.of the formal submission. A digital Adobe PDF version and a bound paper copy
of the final report,and will be lodged with the Gwynedd Historic Environment Record within six
months.ef.completion of fieldwork.

A summary-of the work will be published in the Archaeology in Wales Journal.

3.4.1 Copyright

C.R Archaeology and sub-contractors shall retain full copyright of any commissioned reports, tender
documents or other project documents, under the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988 with all
rights reserved; excepting that it hereby provides a licence to the client and the local authority for the
use of the report by the client and the local authority in all matters directly relating to the project as
described in the Project Specification.



4.0 Brief Historical Background
The following section is through necessity brief and is intended merely to provide a basic outline of
the history of the property. Further research is not required within the scope of this project.

The site is located against the Medieval Town Wall of Conwy. The following passage is taken
from the Scheduled Monument description for the walls (CN014):

“This monument comprises the remains of the medieval town walls of Conwy. Begun in 1283 by King
Edward I, the town walls incorporate Conwy Castle and were built to protect the new town borough.
The walls are constructed from Silurian grit and Ordovician rhyolite and measure approximately
1.3km in length and enclose an area approximately 22 acres. As built, they vary in height because of
the sloping ground but are at least 6m high on the outer face. With three twin-towered gates and
twenty-one D-shaped towers at regular intervals, originally with a ditch around the outside, the town
walls of Conwy share many constructional and architectural details with the castle. Thetowers stand
up to 15m high, and apart from the gates and Tower 16, are all roofless and open backed, eriginally
with only a timber platform at the same level as the main wall-walk. The towers‘and wall-walks of
the intervening stretches of wall are built with crenallations, and, as on the castle, the-merlons contain
arrowloops alternating between low and high levels, allowing a field of fire in both the near and
middle distance. The Lower Gate was built to give access into the town from a'quay on the riverside.
The gate itself, like the Upper Gate at the opposite end of the town,.is twin-towered and protected
with a portcullis. The Mill Gate gave access to the royal mill on the ‘nearby River Gyffin. Unusually,
the two towers that comprise the gate do not form a pair; one iswround and one is D-shaped. It is this
distinction that helps identify the building as the location forghe Kings warderobe. The Upper Gate
is located to the south of the watchtower (Tower 13) and.forms.the main landward entrance to the
town. Like the Lower Gate it consists of two drum“tewers flanking a central carriageway and
protected by a drawbridge, portcullis and wooden gates. An additional spur wall projecting beyond
the wall circuit into the river, was built to protect the landing place for ships, either from storm or
attack. It originally ended in a round tower whiehne-longer exists. A number of later modifications
to the walls have occurred. A hole was created in the northern section of wall close to the castle to
accommodate the road that used Thomas Telford's suspension bridge built in 1826. In addition, the
wall between Towers 17 and 18 was largely rebuilt in 1847 to accommodate a broad arch for the
Chester to Holyhead railway whichcclosely skirts the walls and castle. The monument is of national
and international importance, forsitswpotential to enhance our knowledge of medieval defensive
organisation and the growth_of towns. This is reflected by its designation as a World Heritage Site.
Significantly, the town walls censtitute one of the best-preserved and most imposing medieval
defensive schemes in Europe. The monument forms an important element within the wider medieval
context and the structuretitself may be expected to contain archaeological information in regard to
chronology, building techniques and functional detail. The scheduled area comprises the remains
described and areas around them within which related evidence may be expected to survive”.

The Cadw Listed Building Description for Number 10 Lower Gate Street (Cadw ID 3317)
records:

“Probably C19 and inserted into a narrow space between pre-existing cottages, and built as a lean-
to against the town wall. It was inhabited until 1900 and was saved from demolition, unlike the houses
on its L side, by being turned into a tourist attraction.

A very narrow single-fronted two storeyed house of red-painted roughcast front, lean-to slate roof
and brick stack on the R against the town wall. A higher rubble-stone wall to the L is the rebuilt wall
of a former adjoining cottage demolished in the first decade of the C20. A split boarded door is on
the L and fixed window on the R. In the 1st floor is a small 4-pane horizontal-sliding sash window.
The lower storey has a lintelled fireplace and cupboard bench. Walls are boarded and the floor is laid
with red and black tiles. The upper storey is reached by ladder stair, has a corner C19 fireplace and
cupboard built into the rear wall.



Listed as a well-preserved small C19 cottage, an exceptional survival of special social-historical
interest as the humblest of a former long row of quayside dwellings, and of additional interest as one
of the town's oldest tourist attractions. It is part of a well-preserved group, with Nos 11 and 12, of
C18-C19 quayside dwellings”.

The Cadw Listed Building Description for Number 11 Lower Gate Street (Cadw ID 87359)
records:
“In a row of houses built against the town wall, facing the quayside.

An early C19 cottage with characteristic later C19 facade detail.
Interior Not inspected.

A 2-storey double-fronted cottage of whitened pebble-dash, black-painted smooth-rendered. plinth,
architraves, quoin strips, 1st-floor sill and eaves band. The roof is slate (stacks have bheen removed).
Openings have segmental heads in the lower storey. The central boarded door is,flanked by 16-pane
horned sash windows in the ground floor and 1st-floor 12-pane hornless sash windows. The rear is
built against the town wall.

Listed as a C19 cottage retaining original character, and as part of a/group with Nos 10 and 12 of
well-preserved quayside dwellings”.

Limited Archival Research

A limited number of historic sources were consulted in:an attempt to refine the date of the approximate
erection of the two houses. The earliest detailed sourcesshowing houses outside the town walls on
Lower Gate Street was produced by an unknown, artist.around 1600 (Cadw 1997: 12). This source
shows a row of houses between the Lower Gate (Porth Isaf) and the now vanished wall spur but there
are no houses shown against the tower itself. These houses would presumably have all been destroyed
during the Civil War (1642 — 1651) althoughsthe below ground remains of these properties may
survive below the current structures.

No further detailed maps could bessourced prior to the production of the Holland Estate Map in 1776
(figure 2) which clearly shows that both properties have been erected by this date. Due to possible
inaccuracies in the mapping one,cannot be certain as to whether the highlighted property is Number
10 (The Smallest House)orthe'now demolished adjacent property (see figure 3). It is recorded as “w”
on the map schedule which is listed as a “house and garden” although it is difficult to see where a
garden would be located within the plot and it is presumably located within one of the large gardens
shown within the town walls.

The presence ofthese two properties on a source dated 1776 allows the dating of both houses to be
shifted back from the early 19" Century into the later 18" Century. The use of brick in the Smallest
House is‘a‘good indicator that this structure is unlikely to be significantly earlier than this date as the
brick making industry in North Wales did not emerge until the 1760’s (Hankinson, Britnell and
Silvester 2012: 10). Brick would not have been utilised in a lowly property such as this prior to the
commencement of mass production although it is possible that the bricks used in the construction of
the house had been salvaged from elsewhere rather than being specifically purchased for this project.

Number 11 is clearly earlier than the Smallest House and is of stone construction. This house is likely
to have been built in the mid 18" century although it is not out of the question that the house dates
back into the early 18" Century.



Figure 2. 1776 Holland Estate Map of Conwy (Source: Bangor University Archives BM55/23/83)

Figure 3. Photograph from c.1900 Showing Now Demolished Cottages to the South-East
Of the Smallest House, the Smallest House and Number 11 (Source: Williams 2008:22)




Following the cessation of hostilities in the Civil War, and after a short period where it had been
decided that Conwy Castle should remain operational, in 1655 the Council of State ordered that
Conwy should be slighted and made indefensible (Cadw 2015: 18-19). The house may well have been
constructed utilising building material salvaged from the town walls.

5.0 Results of Archaeological Works

A site visit was conducted on October 29" 2016 prior to the commencement of works. Follow up
visits were made on the 9" and 25" November 2016. During this a comprehensive record of the
affected site areas was compiled prior to and following the works being undertaken at the two prop-
erties. The exterior and any accessible interior features were photographed.

The two properties are shown on the 1776 Holland Estate Map of Conwy and must therefore predate
this. The Smallest House (Number 10) is of brick construction and has been inserted between'Number
11 and the now demolished property to the south-east. It is not thought that the property significantly
predates this as brick is not mass produced in North Wales prior to the 1760’s.«Before this-date brick
is rarely used outside of the large estates in the area. The brick used in the construetion of the smallest
house could quite conceivably have been reused from another source.

No elements of the Town Wall were exposed during the works to the Smallest House as it was found
that the chimney breast covers part of the wall and the remaining ‘areahad been obscured by the
creation of a recessed cupboard space — the rear of which was the tower wall. It was not clear as to
whether the rear of the cupboard had been created through the removal of stones belonging to the
tower as the area to the rear of the recess was unaffected.by the works. This would however seem
likely to have been the case.

Number 10 was inhabited until around 1900 when it became a tourist attraction, which it continues
to be utilised as to this day. Number 11 is a traditional quay side dwelling which currently has a dual
function. The ground floor is used as storage and as an administration/staff area for the Smallest
House with a kitchen housed in the rear extension. The first floor and attic rooms were used as
accommodation and storage with a bathroom housed in the rear extension. Following the current
works at the property the first and attic levels will be renovated as living quarters.

Number 11 is of stone construction and predates Number 10. The exact construction of the house is
unknown but it is likely to be of mid 18" Century date, although an early 18" Century date could not
be ruled out. The house'incarporates a small section of the tower wall into its south-western corner
and this was partially uncevered in the works to the attic area.

For ease of discussion the following section has been divided between the two properties with Num-
ber 10 (Smallest:House) discussed first, followed by Number 11. Plates are divided into before and
after sections.

5.1 Drawn Record

Architects plans of the site were not produced due to the nature of the works. Measured drawings
were produced from measurements taken on site. These have been annotated to show key architectural
features and the location and direction of photographic plates.
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Plate 6. South-Eastern Gable Plate 7. First Floor Bedroom in
Of 10 Lower Castle Street 10 Lower Castle Street Prior to Works

Plate 8. First Floor Bedroom in Plate 9. First Floor Bedroom in
10 Lower Castle Street Prior to Works 10 Lower Castle Street Prior to Works




5.2 Results of Photographic Survey (Plates 1 - 38)

A comprehensive photographic survey was conducted and the full photographic archive has been
included in TIFF format on an accompanying disc at the back of this report. These photographs are
subdivided by interior and exterior and by property. Within this they are divided into photographs
taken before the commencement of works and those taken following the stripping out of the affected
areas. Relevant photographs are incorporated into the main text as numbered plates and the positions
of these are marked in appendix b.

5.2.1 Building Exteriors (Plates 1 - 6)
Due to the location of the properties not all exterior elevations were exposed or accessible.

The rear and north-western elevations of the Smallest House adjoin other structures - the réar of the
property is against the Town Walls and Number 11 adjoins the property to the north-west. The south-
eastern gable elevation, although exposed is not strictly speaking the gable of the smallest hause. It
is the surviving gable of the demolished adjacent property which was left standing so as,not to damage
the structural integrity of the Smallest House. The surviving gable is of stone construetion (plate 6).

The front elevation of the smallest house is shown in plates 1-3. The Listing entry describes it as “a
very narrow single-fronted two storeyed house of red-painted roughcast front, lean-to slate roof and
brick stack on the R against the town wall. A higher rubble-stone wall 1o the L is the rebuilt wall of a
former adjoining cottage demolished in the first decade of the‘€20.:A'split boarded door is on the L
and fixed window on the R. In the 1st floor is a small 4-pane horizontal-sliding sash window”.

There is little to add to this legacy text other than the brick chimney stack (plate 4) was rebuilt to the
earlier design in the 1960’s or 1970’s. The window atfirst floor level is currently a small 4-pane
casement window rather than a horizontal sash and‘it would seem more likely that this is a
replacement, which is roughly contemporary. with.the chimney stack, than an error in the Listing
description. It was heavily overpainted and could not be examined in detail. The change in window
design had proved problematic as the casement:window has leaked over an extended period of time
causing damage to the area below the window. This has been rectified during this phase of works.

Number 11 occupies a mid-terrace position and therefore only the front and rear elevations were
visible. The front elevation is,described in the Listing text as “A 2-storey double-fronted cottage of
whitened pebble-dash, black-painted smooth-rendered plinth, architraves, quoin strips, 1st-floor sill
and eaves band. The roof is;slate (stacks have been removed). Openings have segmental heads in the
lower storey. The centralboarded door is flanked by 16-pane horned sash windows in the ground
floor and 1st-floor 12-pane hornless sash windows. The rear is built against the town wall.

This descriptioniisilargely accurate although the comment on the stacks having been removed needs
qualification.«The fireplace within this property is located at the rear of the south-eastern bay of the
main cottage and there is a chimney stack which runs up the side of the Town Wall tower. Figure 3
shows thefull height of this stack which previously stood at almost the full height of the tower. This
height has been significantly reduced but the lower section of the stack still survives (plate 5). Only
the extension to the rear of the property is actually built against the Town Wall and there is a small
yard area to the building rear. The extension is shown on the 1889 First Edition Ordnance Survey
map of Conwy.
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5.2.2 Building Interior — The Smallest House (Plates 7-22)

The Listing description for the Smallest House records that “the lower storey has a lintelled fireplace
and cupboard bench. Walls are boarded and the floor is laid with red and black tiles. The upper storey
is reached by ladder stair, has a corner C19 fireplace and cupboard built into the rear wall”.

Plates 7 — 14 detail the property prior to the commencement of works and show the water damage to
the first floor. Plates 15 — 22 detail the first floor following the stripping back of the plaster. No works
were undertaken to the ground floor level.

When areas of the plaster were removed from the first floor level the smallest house was found to be
of brick construction. The house had been inserted between two existing structures but it had been
built as a complete shell rather than simply consisting of a front wall and roof as has been suggested
elsewhere.

The rear elevation housed a stone chimney breast which ran up the tower of the Town Wall and a
recessed cupboard. The cupboard in the rear wall backed onto the tower but the'plaster at the rear of
this recess was not removed. The nineteenth century cast iron fireplace is a lateriaddition and a large
stone lintel was revealed during the works (plates 20 — 21).

An interesting feature is a large wooden horizontal beam in the south-gastern gable (see plates 7, 16,
18 & 19). It is unclear as to the reason for its use but it has possibly heen utilised to create more floor
space within this small area. It could conceivably have beena*feature of the neighbouring property
which had to be incorporated into the design although theredsno hint of this when examining historic
photographs (figure 3).

5.2.3 Building Interior — Number 11 Lower Gate Street (Plates 23 — 38)

A basic photographic record of the ground and first.floor of the property was made which is included
on the accompanying CD. Although this work is outside of the scope outlined in the original
specification it was felt that this would be beneficial as a supplement to the Listed Building
description. No structural works were carried out at ground or first floor level.

The ground floor features were Jargely: obscured by the tools/materials for the works being carried
out and by the storage of materials and gifts related to the use of the Smallest House as a tourist
attraction. The main building is,divided into two rooms and is entered through a small vestibule.
There is a small extension to the rear of the building which houses the kitchen. There is a small yard
at the rear of the building.

The stairs are located between the two main ground floor rooms and alongside the stairs is an area of
original wooden,panelling leading to the first floor (see plates 36-7). The second ground floor room
is in use for storage.

At first floor level the two rooms in the main building are connected by a narrow central corridor
which also leads to the stairway to the attic. The two main rooms are in use as bedrooms and there is
a bathroom in the rear extension. There is also surviving wooden panelling between the first floor and
the attic (plate 38) although as is to be expected it is of much poorer quality than that used in the
ground floor.

The attic was the only level at which works were taking place and a photographic record of the space
was made both before (plates 23 — 26) and after (plates 27 — 35) the clearing of the attic and the
removal of some areas of plaster.
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The attic is divided into two rooms by a wooden partition (plates 23-4). Lathe and plaster had been
utilised to form low walls within the eaves of the roof structure on the front and rear elevations, other
than the rear wall in the room against the Smallest House which was rendered stone. The space created
under the eaves in the front elevation was likely to have been utilised for storage and could be
accessed via an opening shown in plate 34. The lathe and plaster on the rear wall was almost flush
against the stone.

The roof structure is a through purlin construction with the roof blades crossed at the ridge (see plates
23-4). Splayed queen posts have been utilised and wooden pegs have been used throughout the roof
structure. This particular design allowed for the insertion of a doorway between the two bays allowing
more effective use of this space. The use of wooden pegs rather than iron fixings would be consistent
with an 18" century construction date.

There appears to have been some infilling in the rear elevation (see plate 28) and it is possible that
there is a blocked fireplace here. There is a sky light in the rear elevation and although'it may be an
original opening the current window is not an original or particularly early feature.

There was a small area of the Town Wall tower identified in the south<eastern corner of the attic

(plates 26 — 31). No architectural features were identified on this structure and the wall construction
does not differ from that observed elsewhere around the wall circuit!

6.0 Conclusion

No architectural features related to the Town Wall were uncovered during these works and the tower
wall was only exposed in Number 11. Limited archival research was able to establish that the Smallest
House and Number 11 both predate 1776. Interesting architectural features survive in both properties.
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1.0 Introduction
C.R Archaeology have been instructed by Ms Jan Tyley to conduct archaeological recording works
at 10 & 11 Lower Gate Street, Conwy (figure 1).

The house is built against one of the towers on the outside of the Medieval Town Walls of Conwy
(SAM CNO014), which were built following the conquest of Wales by Edward 1. The building of the
town wall was begun in 1283 and the town walls incorporate Conwy Castle. They were built to
protect the new town borough and are constructed from Silurian grit and Ordovician rhyolite. They
measure approximately 1.3km in length and enclose an area approximately 22 acres. As built, they
vary in height because of the sloping ground but are at least 6m high on the outer face. With three
twin-towered gates and twenty-one D-shaped towers at regular intervals, originally with a ditch
around the outside, the town walls of Conwy share many constructional and architectural details
with the castle.

The Town Walls and area of the town of Conwy within the original circuit, of 'the:Town Wall is
considered to form part of the essential setting of the World Heritage Site (Ref 374)-and the historic
town core is a Conservation Area.

Ten Lower Gate Street (The Smallest House) is a Grade II Listed Building(Cadw ID: 3317) and is
Listed as a “well-preserved small C19 cottage, an exceptional survivallof special social-historical
interest as the humblest of a former long row of quayside dwellings, and of additional interest as
one of the town's oldest tourist attractions. It is part of a wellpreserved group, with Nos 11 and 12,
of C18-C19 quayside dwellings”. The building is currentlytin/use as a museum and is a tourist
attraction.

In January 2016 a “Faults Survey” of Nos10, and 11 Lower Gate Street was undertaken by
Hampson Lewis Charted Building Surveyors\(included as Appendix A). This report details repairs
to be undertaken at the two properties and having examined the document it was determined by
Cadw's Inspector of Ancient Monuments and*Archaeology that “The works to number 10 may
expose a previously unrecorded section_ofithe Town Wall Tower and as such suitable recording
methodology must be in place andvan archaeologist appointed to ensure an appropriate record of
any areas of exposed masonry” ¢ This'specification outlines the methodology to be employed in the
recording of any features of archaeological/historical interest uncovered following the removal of
the existing plasterwork‘or otherumaterials which expose the Town Wall Tower.

The works to be undertaken are a Level 2/3 Building Recording of the of the building interior
following the removal of the existing plasterwork. Historic research into the site will not be
undertaken unléss a significant discovery is made during the works. It is considered that the SAM
entry for the/Conwy Town Walls and the Listed Building description for the house are sufficient to
provide the context needed for the project.

2.0 Project Aims & Objectives

The aim of this programme of works is to create a Level 2/3 Building Record of Number 10 Lower
Gate Street Conwy with particular emphasis on the recording of any areas of the Town Wall Tower
exposed following the removal of the existing plasterwork.

It aims to fulfil the mitigation criteria for undertaking an Archaeological Building Recording as
specified in the CIfA Standard and Guidance documents (2014).

The objectives of the archaeological programme are to provide an archive record of the building; to
increase understanding of the site’s history, development and significance and to make available
information about the archaeological resource existing on the site.
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3.0 Brief Historical Background
This section is through necessity brief and is intended merely to provide a basic outline of the
history of the property. Further research is not required within the scope of this project.

The site is located against the Medieval Town Wall of Conwy. The following passage is taken from
the Scheduled Monument description for the walls (CN014):

“This monument comprises the remains of the medieval town walls of Conwy. Begun in 1283 by
King Edward I, the town walls incorporate Conwy Castle and were built to protect the new town
borough. The walls are constructed from Silurian grit and Ordovician rhyolite and measure
approximately 1.3km in length and enclose an area approximately 22 acres. As built, they vary in
height because of the sloping ground but are at least 6m high on the outer face. With three twin-
towered gates and twenty-one D-shaped towers at regular intervals, originally with a.ditch-around
the outside, the town walls of Conwy share many constructional and architectural details,with the
castle. The towers stand up to 15m high, and apart from the gates and Tower 16, are all roofless
and open backed, originally with only a timber platform at the same level as the'main wall-walk.
The towers and wall-walks of the intervening stretches of wall are built with crenallations, and, as
on the castle, the merlons contain arrowloops alternating between low and high levels, allowing a
field of fire in both the near and middle distance. The Lower Gate was built to give access into the
town from a quay on the riverside. The gate itself, like the Upper Gaterat the opposite end of the
town, is twin-towered and protected with a portcullis. The Mill'Gate gave access to the royal mill
on the nearby River Gyffin. Unusually, the two towers that ¢omprise the gate do not form a pair;
one is round and one is D-shaped. It is this distinction that helps identify the building as the
location for the Kings warderobe. The Upper Gate is located to the south of the watchtower (Tower
13) and forms the main landward entrance to the town.dLike the Lower Gate it consists of two drum
towers flanking a central carriageway and protected by a drawbridge, portcullis and wooden gates.
An additional spur wall projecting beyond the wall-circuit into the river, was built to protect the
landing place for ships, either from storm or attack. It originally ended in a round tower which no
longer exists. A number of later modifications to the walls have occurred. A hole was created in the
northern section of wall close to the castle'to accommodate the road that used Thomas Telford's
suspension bridge built in 1826. Inaddition, the wall between Towers 17 and 18 was largely rebuilt
in 1847 to accommodate a broad arch'for the Chester to Holyhead railway which closely skirts the
walls and castle. The monument. is of national and international importance for its potential to
enhance our knowledge of medieval defensive organisation and the growth of towns. This is
reflected by its designationas a World Heritage Site. Significantly, the town walls constitute one of
the best-preserved and most imposing medieval defensive schemes in Europe. The monument forms
an important element'within the wider medieval context and the structure itself may be expected to
contain archaeological dinformation in regard to chronology, building techniques and functional
detail. The scheduled area comprises the remains described and areas around them within which
related evidenee' may be expected to survive”.

The Cadw Listed Building Description for Number 10 Lower Gate Street (The Smallest House, ID
3317) records:

“Probably C19 and inserted into a narrow space between pre-existing cottages, and built as a lean-
to against the town wall. It was inhabited until 1900 and was saved from demolition, unlike the
houses on its L side, by being turned into a tourist attraction.

A very narrow single-fronted two storeyed house of red-painted roughcast front, lean-to slate roof
and brick stack on the R against the town wall. A higher rubble-stone wall to the L is the rebuilt
wall of a former adjoining cottage demolished in the first decade of the C20. A split boarded door is
on the L and fixed window on the R. In the Ist floor is a small 4-pane horizontal-sliding sash



window.

The lower storey has a lintelled fireplace and cupboard bench. Walls are boarded and the floor is
laid with red and black tiles. The upper storey is reached by ladder stair, has a corner C19 fireplace
and cupboard built into the rear wall.

Listed as a well-preserved small C19 cottage, an exceptional survival of special social-historical
interest as the humblest of a former long row of quayside dwellings, and of additional interest as

one of the town's oldest tourist attractions. It is part of a well-preserved group, with Nos 11 and 12,
of C18-C19 quayside dwellings”.

4.0 Scheme of Works - Methodology

4.1 Scheme of Works — Methodology for Building Recording

The methodology employed will conform to the requirements for a Level 2/3 Building Record as
specified in Understanding Historic Buildings: A Guide to Good Recording Practice/(Historic
England 2016) and The Chartered Institute for Archaeologists: Standard and, Guidance for the
Archaeological Investigation and Recording of Standing Buildings or Structures (2014).

The following points are detailed in Understanding Historic Buildings: A.Guide to Good Recording
Practice ( Historic England 2016).

The record created for the site will consist of:

Written Account Points 1-3, 5-8, 11

Drawings Points 2, 5 & 6 (if necessary), 8
Photography Points 1-2, 4-5, 7-8.

4.1.1 Desk Based Research

A detailed history of the site is not deemed toybe a necessary component of this programme of
works. Research will however be conducted.should significant remains be uncovered which require
further interpretation/discussion.

The works will be conducted, in“accordance with the CIfA Standards and Guidance for Historic
Environment Desk-based Assessment (2014) and will include the information required to fulfil
points 1-3, 5-8 and 1P as specified in Understanding Historic Buildings: A Guide to Good
Recording Practice ( Historic England 2016).

4.1.2 Drawn Survey

If available architects plans of the site will be utilised to fulfil points 2, 5-6 and if necessary 8 as
specified in (“Understanding Historic Buildings: A Guide to Good Recording Practice” ( Historic
England 2016)< Should such drawings not be available then C.R Archaeology will produce
measured drawings of the affected rooms.

Drawn records of any undiscovered features will be produced by C.R Archaeology as necessary.

4.1.3 Photographic Survey
A photographic survey of the building will be undertaken. This will include:

1) A photographic survey of the exterior including general shots of the site environs
2) A photographic survey of the interior of the building with particular emphasis on the area of
the town wall tower exposed by the works



The methodology employed will conform to the requirements of photographic recording to the
equivalent of a Level 3 Survey, as specified in Understanding Historic Buildings: A Guide to Good
Recording Practice ( Historic England 2016) and will include works specified in points 1-2, 4-5 &
7-8.

4.1.3.1 Equipment

The photographic survey will be undertaken using a 20.1 mega-pixel Sony Alpha58 digital camera
with a variety of standard and other lenses using a tripod where necessary. Images will be captured
in RAW format for later processing into high resolution JPG and TIFF files.

Where possible all exterior and interior elevations of the building will be photographed with scales
from ground level. Additional photographs will be taken detailing important architectural features
and the general setting of the site.

4.2 Archive Compilation

All records created during the fieldwork will be checked for consistency and aceuracy and will form
part of the Primary Site Archive (P1) (EH 2006). The archive will contain, all data collected,
including records and other specialist materials. It will be ordered, indexedjyadequately documented,
internally consistent, secure, quantified, conforming to standards required by the archive repository
and signposted appropriately to ensure future use in research, as detailed in the English Heritage
Management of Research Projects in the Historic Environment(MoRPHE) methodology.

The archive will be assembled in accordance with the guidelines published in, Standards in the
museum care of archaeological collections (Museums.& Galleries Commission 1994), Guidelines
for the preparation of excavation archives for long-term storage (United Kingdom Institute for
Conservation, 1990) and Archaeological Archives: A guide to best practice in creation, compilation,
transfer and curation (AAF 2007).

Copies of the digital archive will be deposited at the RCAHMW and at Conwy Archives,
Llandudno.

4.3. Timetable for Proposed Works

It is envisaged that initial works ‘at the site will commence as soon as possible. Site work
(photographic building recording) is to take place over one day. Cadw will be informed of the exact
site days to allow monitoring of works.

4.3.1 Staffing
The project willkbe managed by Catherine Rees (MCIfA, BA, MA, PgDip HEC, MCIfA).

All projects are.carried out in accordance with CIfA Standard and Guidance documents.

4.3.2 Monitoring

The project will be subject to monitoring by Cadw. The monitor will be given prior notice of the
commencement of the fieldwork. A projected time-scale and copy of the risk assessment can be
provided on request to the monitoring body prior to the commencement of works. Cadw will be
notified in writing of the commencement dates for archaeological site work.

4.3.3 Health and Safety
A risk assessment will be conducted prior to the commencement of works and site staff will be
familiarised with its contents. A first aid kit will be located in the site vehicle.



All staff will be issued with appropriate Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) for the site work.
Initially this is anticipated to consist of:

» Safety Helmets (EN397)
* Hi-visibility vests (EN471)
» Safety footwear — steel toecap and mid-sole boots and Wellingtons (EN345-47)

Any further PPE required will be provided by C.R Archaeology

All staff will have passed at least a CITB health and safety test at least operative level and will carry
a Construction Related Organisation (CRO) White Card for Archaeological Technician (Code 5363)
or a Site Visitor card.

C.R Archaeology staff will also comply with any Health and Safety Policy or specific on-site
instructions provided by the client or their appointed Principal contractor or H&S/cootdinator.

4.4 The Report

The report will clearly and accurately incorporate information gained from the programme of
archaeological works. The report will contain a site plan showingsthe.locations of photographs
taken.

The report will include:

* acopy of the design brief and agreed specification

* alocation plan based on current OS mapping at an appropriate scale

» full dimensional and descriptive detail/oft significant features identified
» a full bibliography of sources consulted

* an archive compact disc

The report will detail the results of the Level 2/3 Building Recording and combine the results of the
photographs/drawings taken/made following the stripping out of the plasterwork, the drawn record
and the any archival research undertaken.

Copies of the reports in AdobePDF format will be sent to the appropriate monitoring archaeologist
for approval before formal submission. A bound paper copy and PDF digital copy of the report will
be submitted as part.of'the formal submission. A digital Adobe PDF version and a bound paper copy
of the final report and will be lodged with the Gwynedd Historic Environment Record within six
months of completion of fieldwork.

A summary 0f the work will be published in the Archaeology in Wales Journal.

4.4.1 Copyright

C.R Archaeology and sub-contractors shall retain full copyright of any commissioned reports,
tender documents or other project documents, under the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988
with all rights reserved; excepting that it hereby provides a licence to the client and the local
authority for the use of the report by the client and the local authority in all matters directly relating
to the project as described in the Project Specification.
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Appendix B.

Location and Direction of Photographic Plates
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